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Chairman’s Message
DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

OF INJAZZAT REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CO.,

On behalf of my fellow Members of the board and the
Company’s Executives, I would like to thank you for your
valuable contributions and present to you the annual
report of Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.
S. C. P and its financial statements for the fiscal year ended
31st December 2014.
Following the re-structuring undertaken by the company
over the past few years, Injazzat successfully managed
during the year 2014 to cover all its deferred losses, and
return to profitability, and to resume the growth and
successes we had known in the past. These positive
results were only archived because of your confidence,
support and patience, particularly after the Company’s
Management completed the execution of the re-structuring
plan, for it took a series of well-considered decisions that
were accomplished over the past few years through the
Company’s operating and financial performance. This
reflected positively on the shareholders’ equity despite
the prevailing Arab and global circumstances, and the
accompanying challenges to the economies of the region.
The company continued to implement its strategy to
increase its investment in income generating assets, this is
by developing several lands owned by the Company and
converting them into assets that generate rewarding and
ever increasing returns.
In 2014, The (Alyal Residence) project in the Kingdom of
Bahrain was completed, the project was undertaken as a
joint venture with a strategic partner. In addition to the
completion of developing and leasing of the warehouses
at the Bahrain investment Wharf. As for the United Arab
Emirates, the Company obtained necessary permits to
develop a labor accommodation project at Jabal Ali. In
addition, the Company is currently preparing designs and
financial studies to execute a residential and commercial
tower on a land owned by the Company at Al-Jaddaf area.
Plans are also in place for the company to invest in a redevelopment project in Paris, with the intention to sell the
units once they are completed.
Pursuant to the Company’s expansion and generating
investment opportunities in new International markets, the
Company joined venture with other partners to invest in an
office building in Germany in Duisburg. The building is fully
leased by a global company, and is a substantial addition to
the Company’s portfolio of income generating assets.
Within the framework of the Company’s strategy, the
Company borrowed approximately KD 4 million for
investment in new projects in France and the United

Kingdom. This led to a 10% increase of the bank loans from
KD 41 in 2013 to KD 45 in 2014. On the other side, the
Company’s assets rose by 6% from KD 99 million to KD
105 million. The Company succeeded in increasing the
shareholders’ equity to KD 56 million in2014 from KD53 in
2013. We have, this year, focused on developing strategic
assets with a view to enhancing the Company’s operating
revenues.
The Company’s financial performance was positive.
Injazzat’s total revenues amounted to KD 6.3 million at
the end of 2014 compared to 6.4 million in 2013. Revenues
contained an extra-ordinary, non-recurring item equal
to 50% of revenues, resulting from several divestment
agreements with a bank. On the other hand, expenses, other
operating costs and provisions decreased by 16% from KD
5.7 million in2013 to KD 4.8 million in 2014. The decrease
resulted in the net profit of the company increasing to KD
1.5 million in 2014 compared to KD 728 thousand in 2013
– a 106% increase.
Our future vision for the coming few years is positive ,
supported by our balanced investment policy in terms of
the geographic distribution and quality of the real estate
investment with a view to achieve optimum returns.

Ladies and Gentlemen, Injazzat Company Shareholders,
Finally, I would like to express to the Members of the
Board of Directors, the Executive Management and all the
Employees of the Company our deepest thanks for their
effective contribution and tangible efforts. I would also like,
to extend on behalf of the Board and staff members, our
sincere gratitude and appreciation to our shareholders for
their continues support which stimulate and inspires us to
realize more accomplishments and achievements.

May peace and Allah’s mercy and blessings be upon you.
Thank you.

Faisal Fahad Al-Shaya
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Company’s Projects
INTRODUCTION
Continuing its journey of success, Injazzat further enhanced its strategy by focusing on income generating assets.
The Company has transformed non-operational assets into earning generating assets. It introduced innovative
benefits to its existing assets which in turn reinforced their overall value and managed to ascend as a pioneer in
the real estate investment sector.
Injazzat persisted to implement its expansion strategy targeting new regional and international markets and in
particular promising and developing markets recovering from the devastating repercussions of the financial crisis.
As a result of these achievements, the Company attained unique milestones which enabled it to accomplish a
balance between income-generating projects, development projects and deal with lands in strategic locations.
These efforts are reflected in the Company’s investment and development projects locally, regionally and
internationally. The following sections provide more focus.

LOCAL LEVEL
Even though Injazzat currently holds a single asset in Kuwait, the Company seeks to offer an array of integrated
real estate development services that include selling services, land trading and developing, and real estate projects
management. Aiming ultimately to benefit from increased land value, gleaning lucrative returns from income
generating properties while committed to its strategic plans which aims to diversify company’s assets.

AL DAJEEJ BUILDING
Al Dajeej Building is located in Al Farwaniya area and was purchased by the Company to become one of the
Company’s income generating assets. It reinforces the Company’s strategy for local expansion, specifically in
properties with regular returns. The current total leased area of the building is approximately 10,634 sq. m.; it is
currently utilized through long-term government contracts.
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GCC COUNTRIES
In conforming with the Company’s strategy, Injazzat aims to achieve geographical and categorical
diversification and extended its activities to several neighboring Gulf countries which so far include
the Kingdom of Bahrain, Qatar, United Arab Emirates and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. This was
represented by investment in feasible real estate opportunities that secure an added value to the
company and its shareholders.

KINGDOM OF BAHRAIN
The Kingdom of Bahrain appears to have surpassed both the economic and political challenges of
the past, and is heading in the right direction. Development of infrastructure, and communication
networks have gone underway thus an improvement in the economic climate is visible, which in
turn presents opportunities, particularly in the real estate sector. As far as the Company’s assets
are concerned, the Company was capable of surmounting all the impediments and managed
to lease out all its projects at competitive prices, due to the Company’s selection of distinctive
opportunities in the past.

DHOW REAL ESTATE
COMPANY
Dhow Real Estate Company was
established in 1999 as a Bahraini
company fully owned by Injazzat,
to invest, develop and trade in
Bahrain’s real estate sector. It has
realized fine results from a number
of sales and acquisition deals. The
Company enhanced the list of its
income-generating assets through
developing warehouses at the Bahrain
Investment Wharf Project. In addition,
the Company still owns several
strategically located plots in the areas
of Al Seef, and Ras Zuwaid.

6
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FIRST REAL ESTATE COMPANY
In 2002, Injazzat established “First Real Estate Company” in the Kingdom of Bahrain, shared
equally with a qualified Bahraini investor who is an expert in both the construction and real estate
fields, to develop residential complexes.
In 2005, the Company underwent restructuring and its capital was increased to BD 30 million
through adding some new assets and allowing the entry of new investors. The Company maintains
the quality and performance of its current income-generating assets that enjoy high occupancy
rates. In parallel, it works to continuously invest in new promising future projects through the
development of its lands and assets situated in strategic locations. In the third quarter of 2014,
the Company completed the development of Al Yal residence building and is currently leasing the
project at competitive rates. Furthermore, the company is currently preparing feasibility studies
with regards to another residential project on a piece of land owned by the company in the same
area.
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UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
The United Arab Emirates is one of the most promising regional markets especially after the
UAE was selected to organize a world event like Expo 2020 on its territory. This provides more
investment opportunities and real estate development, opens new horizons for transactions that
would be beneficial to the entire region in the form of purchasing several lands in various locations
in Dubai, Umm Al Quwain and Abu Dhabi.

DUNES VILLAGE, DUBAI
INVESTMENT PARK
In May 2013, Injazzat acquired a residential building at Dunes Village located at Dubai Investment
Park in the UAE. The building consists of 52 residential apartments with 52 parking bays and covers
an area of 54,528 sq. ft. In December of the same year, Injazzat acquired a second building in the
area consisting of 52 residential apartments with a total area of 53,770 sq. ft. Both buildings are
fully leased.

8
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DANAT ABU DHABI
The company purchased a strategic
piece of land in 2007, situated on the
crossing of Shiekh Zayid Bin Saed Al
Maktoom Road, and the new airport
road. The land is about 48,675 sq. ft.
in size and the allowable built up area
is about 251,382 sq. ft. The company
intends to develop this land to a 17
floor multi zoned project that holds
both residential and commercial uses.

AL JADAF RESIDENCE
The company purchased a land in 2008 with a total area of 24,657 sq. ft. in Al Jadaf district (a close
proximity to Dubai International Airport & Dubai Financial District). Currently the company is in its
final financial and planning phase to develop this land into a residential building.

AL QOUZ LABOR CAMP (I)
Al Qouz labor camp is located in Dubai, covering a land area of 100,136 sq. ft. and a total built-up
area of approximately 224,000 sq. ft. The project consists of two labor accommodations providing
620 rooms along with offices and commercial shops. Subsequent to the completion and full leasing
of the project, the Company sold 50% of its share in the project to a Kuwaiti company.

AL QOUZ LABOR CAMP (II)
Al Qouz labor camp II covers a land area of 50,051 sq. ft. and a total built-up area of approximately
106,759 sq. ft. It comprises 310 rooms in addition to offices and commercial shops.The project is
fully leased.

AL MUHAISNA PROJECT
The project is located in Al Muhaisna region and covers a total land area of about 57,000 sq. ft.
It comprises a two-storey labor accommodation building containing 397 rooms. The company
purchased this project in equal partnership with First Real Estate Company-Kingdom of Bahrain.
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AL BARSHA REAL ESTATE CO.

Al Barsha project is located in Al Barsha area within Dubai. It is developed on a plot of 34,675 sq.
ft., with a total built up area of 300,000 sq. ft. It consists of 6 office floors as well as a commercial
ground floor. The Company owns this project with other investors, and the project is fully leased.

JEBEL ALI PROJECT (I)
The Company acquired a piece of land in Jebel Ali Industrial area, UAE, covering a total area of
20,000 sq. ft. to be developed into a labor accommodation complex by the end of this year, the
company had finalized the drawings and financial studies for a project that consists of a labor
accommodation comprising four storeys plus a ground floor with a total of 248 rooms. The project
commenced development in the latter part of 2014.

JEBEL ALI PROJECT (II)
In association with strategic and local investors, the Company acquired 2 plots of land in Jebel
Ali – Dubai, covering a total area of 41,980 sq. ft. The plots are to be developed into a labor
accommodation project with a total built-up area of 176,888 sq. ft. providing a total of 464 rooms.

10

Annual Report 2014

www.injazzat.com

QATAR
Through its economic openness policy, Qatar began to compete strongly with the neighboring
countries while taking advantage of its natural resources and its leading position as one of the
world’s top liquefied gas producers and exporters. It changed its economic laws to open the
door for foreign investors and to become one of the most important developing markets in real
estate and finance. In line with the Company’s strategy to take advantage of regional investment
opportunities, Injazzat Company acquired a commercial land in Lusail with a total area of 5,846
sq.m., and in an equal partnership with another company, Injazzat also acquired another plot of
land with an area of 14,230 sq.m. purchased in 2006, and a third piece of land with a total an area
of 4,751 sq.m. was acquired in March 2008. The company sold Lusail land (5,846 sq.m.) during the
year as well as another land owned equally with a Kuwaiti company that consists of 4,751 sq.m.

KINGDOM OF SAUDI ARABIA
Under the recent accelerated real estate movement and the new economic legislation, the
Company’s regional expansion would only be completed by entering the Saudi market. In 2007
Injazzat acquired, in partnership with other parties, a multi-purpose plot of land in the Eastern
Province of Dammam, one of the most rapidly developing areas in KSA, covering an area of
223,372 sq.m. The land has been subdivided into parcels for both development and sale purposes.
The Company completed the infrastructure works in 2011, and some parcels have been already
sold, and the remaining parcels are held for development or resale purposes.
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INTERNATIONAL LEVEL
On the international level, Injazzat targeted some attractive real estate opportunities in several
countries in Europe and North America. These include direct investments in land and projects
under development as well as indirect investments in real estate funds. These investments are
administered by experienced and knowledgeable partners who are well positioned property
managers.

FRANCE
ALPHA INVESTMENT FUND

The Company established and submitted a real estate fund, in compliance with the Islamic Shari’ah
principles, known as the Alpha Investment Fund. Its investment strategy targets profitable office
buildings and warehouses across the North and South eastern French cities between Paris in the
north and Marseilles in the south. The Fund management has started liquidating its assets, with four
of them already sold.

GERMANY
HITACHI POWER BUILDING PROJECT:

The Company invested in an office building in Duisburg City, Germany, located in the Düsseldorf
Governorate. Duisburg is one of the major world centres well-known for steel production and
trade. It is famous for its river port, Duisport, the largest and most important river port in Europe.
The building consists of 8 floors and two basement floors dedicated for car parking. The total area
of the building is 20,245 sq.m. The building is wholly leased to Hitachi Power Systems Company
under a long-term lease and generates high periodic returns.

12
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
399 JEFFERSON, PARSIPPANY

In December 2013, Injazzat invested in an office building located in Parsippany, New Jersey, USA,
covering a total area of 206,155 sq.ft. The building is fully leased. This investment is anticipated to create
sustainable cash flows to the company.

ELDORADO
The Company acquired a major share in a piece of land located in McKinney City, Texas that
was intended to be subdivided and sold. The land is strategically located in a recently developed
area near the main roads and freeways. Some of the plots have already been sold in line with the
investment strategy.

PRESTON CREEK

The Company developed a commercial complex in 2008 located in Plano City, Texas. The plot is
strategically located between the cities of Plano and Frisco. The project is fully leased.
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NORTH AMERICA
CANADA
CANADIAN STUDENT
HOUSING PARTNERSHIP
In June 2013, Injazzat, in partnership
with Beaumont Partners SA, a Swiss
resident company, invested in student
housing portfolio in the Delta CentreVille Hotel in Montreal, Canada. The
portfolio comprises of two hotel
buildings nearby the University of
McGill and Concordia University. The
buildings have been converted into a
student accommodation buildings to
be leased to students and then selling
it when the investment period ends.

14
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PERFORMANCE OF THE DOMESTIC ECONOMY
The Kuwaiti economy witnessed a turbulent period since
the global financial crisis that broke out in September
2008, ushering a period of slowing economic growth
that saw gross domestic product (GDP) decline from 7.1%
in 2009 and 2.4% in 2010. The global financial crisis was
followed by the turbulent events and deep upheavals of the
Arab Spring which coincided with the Western countries
imposing heavy economic sanctions against Iran that
almost froze Iranian oil production and reduced oil supply
and brought about large oil price increases, through risk
allowances. The local economy benefited from the higher
oil prices and achieved higher growth rates amounting to
10.2% in 2011 and 8.3% in 2012, making up for the losses
suffered during the period following the global financial
crisis in 2008. During 2013, we started to see subtle
indications that something was not quite well in the oil
markets, and economic growth slowed down to 3% against
expectations of a 4.2% growth. It is now estimated that the
economy grew by a modest 2.2% in 2014, against below
the previously expected rate of 2.7%. The Economist
Intelligence Unit expects poor growth of 2% in 2015 as
indicated by Figure 1, as a result of the severe blow that
recently shook the oil market.
It looks like Kuwait will have to adapt to a potentially
substantial change in the oil market brought about by
the fact that the supply factor will by far outweigh the
demand factor. This is going to be a period totally contrary
to what the oil markets witnessed at the start of the third
Millennium, for oil prices continued to rise until the year
2013 (even the global financial crisis of 2008 had only a
short-lived negative effect on the market), for prices rose
again to levels higher than those that prevailed before the
crisis, as indicated by Figure 2). However, the year 2014
gave a wake-up call and alert that a substantial shift was on
the way for the oil market, for although the barrel dropped
by only 9% from the average for 2013. Figure 3 shows the
change from month to month, ending with December, the
price in which would be the start for 2015 and thereafter.
The history of the oil market has invariably taught us that
weak prices are always followed by pressures on the size
of production, thereby multiplying the impact on public
revenues. This means that attempts will be made to
stop the rapid price decline by reducing production. It is
worth noting that oil revenues continue to finance 92% of
Kuwait’s public budget.

16
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Figure 1.

Source: Central Bank of Kuwait

Figure 2.

Source: Kuwait Petroleum Company, Kuwait News Agency ( KUNA ).

Figure 3.

Source: Kuwait Petroleum Company, Kuwait News Agency ( KUNA ).

As a direct effect of changes in the oil market, it will be
difficult to adopt the historical levels of public expenditure
for the future. Figure 4 shows the historical growth of actual
public expenditure during the period from 2001/2002
until the latest period covered by the final account for fiscal
year 2013/2014. The expansion of Kuwait’s financial policy
is obvious. Although fiscal year 2014/2015 continued to
expand at even higher rates with budgeted funds rising
by 10.5% to KD 23.2 billion, it is more likely now, in light
of a weak oil market and calls to stop wastage, that the
actual level of public expenditure will be of the level of the
2013/2014 budget, at KD 19 billion. For this reason, there
will be a budget surplus of KD 7.1 billion this financial year,
for the 16th year successively, as mentioned in Figure 5.
However, this may be the last year in which a budget surplus
is achieved, because all past surpluses were achieved as
a result of oil prices being above the $ 100 mark for five
months, and production being at its maximum of 2.9 million
barrels per day. The public budget, which is the basic driver
of the local economy will witness a new era, starting with
fiscal year 2015/2016, and thereafter, with no growth in
public expenditure and revenues assumed at $ 55 or less
per barrel. The government may have to borrow from the
general reserve or resort to commercial borrowing. This
would be wrong because expenses should not exceed
oil revenues. Alternatively, non-oil revenues should be
increased enough to cover the deficit.

Figure 4.

Source: Ministry of Finance.

Figure 5.

Source: Ministry of Finance.

The erosion of the budget surplus will lead to a gradual
decline of the current account surplus or net dealings with
the rest of the world. The current account surplus had
witnessed a steady growth over the years, as indicated by
Figure 6, and will continue at its high levels to reach 37.1%
of GDP as forecast by the Economist Intelligence Unit, but
that is lower than the 40.8% achieved in 2013. However,
this surplus is likely to decline by 32.9% and 30.9% for
2015 and 2016 respectlvely, but what is expected now
is drop larger than the sharp drop in oil prices. These
are developments subsequent to the publishing of the
Economist Intelligence Unit report.
It is, therefore, more likely that a substantial shift in the
business environment will take place, with a marked effect
on the Company’s performance. It is difficult to forecast
the direction of this shift with any degree of certainty.
However, Injazzat is faithful to its objectives and will be
careful to achieve a sound understanding of the changes
to the business environment, and seek to maximize the
benefits from the positive trends and minimize t he impact
of the adverse developments.

Figure 6.

Source: Central Bank of Kuwait, Ministry of Planning.
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PERFORMANCE OF THE LOCAL
REAL ESTATE MARKET
After the real estate market liquidity rose tremendously
during the years 2005 and 2007, following the price
increases for all elements of the market and after the shift
of liquidity toward the stock exchange market which was
followed by the global financial crisis in the fall of 2008,
liquidity fell sharply by 38.2% in 2008 and by a further
31.9% in 2009. Subsequently, there were indications of a
recovery of the world economy. More important, oil prices
started to rise to their pre-crisis levels, and liquidity started
to rise again, by 21.1% in 2010, and rose to its level of
2005.The recovery of the world economy after the global
financial crisis and the events of the Arab Spring coincided
with the imposition of severe sanctions against Iranian oil
exports. This lent a strong support to oil prices which rose to
pre-crisis levels at a time when Kuwait’s oil production rose
to a record level of 3.2 million barrels per day accompanied
by a sharp increase in public expenditure which, in turn,
resulting in an upward pressure on real estate prices against
a background of increased market liquidity. By the end of
2014, the real estate market liquidity reached a nominal
record level higher than that seen in 2007 following
successive increases in liquidity in 2011, 2012 and 2013, as
indicated by Figure 1.
Within the real estate sector, three activities dominated
98% of the liquidity, namely private residence, investment
residence and the commercial sector. Although the liquidity
of the private residence sector was by far the biggest, the
recent years witnessed a decline of its relative contribution,
in favor of investment residence. The private residence
sector’s share was 55% of the market liquidity in 2010, 2011
and 2012, and 45.8% in 2014, despite an absolute increase
in its liquidity to 49.8%. This increased absolute liquidity
amounting a little more than KD 2 billion in 2014 coincided
with a fall of the number of deals within this sector by
5.8% compared to 2013, resulting in the average value per
transaction rising 24.1%, an indication of over valuation
of private residence properties. This over-valuation is not
justified. One factor is the expansion of horizontal housing
and the support of the building activity by attainable loans,
resulting, from time to time, in a rise to building materials
prices and building manpower wages, thereby making it
more difficult to the beneficiaries from the loans.
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Figure 1.

Source: Ministry of Justice, Real Estate Registration and Authentication Department.

Figure 2.

Source: Ministry of Justice, Real Estate Registration and Authentication Department.

The share of the investment residential real estate sector
is almost equal to that of the private residential real
estate sector. However, its contribution is open to more
fluctuations, especially when market liquidity is abundant.
This aspect is difficult to justify because it represents a key
investment option in an environment that does not offer
many viable investment opportunities in other sectors
of the economy. Its contribution to market liquidity rose
from 28.7% in 2005 to 38.9% in 2007, with an absolute
value of KD1.73 billion. In 2008, its contribution rose to
40.2%. However, with the sharp fall in the absolute value of
its dealings to KD1.1billion as a result of a deflated market,
it reached its lowest contribution of 33.1% in 2010. This
contribution, however, started to rise again from 2011
onwards to reach 42.5% in 2014, the highest during the
last ten years. With the long period of low interest rates on
deposits and the huge increase of surplus liquidity within
the economy, investment real estate properties are being
traded at an overall return rate of 5%, and even lower at
times, which indicates a high potential risk level.
The contribution of the commercial real estate sector is
the smallest within the market, with a share of 11.7% in
2014, (compared to 11.3% in 2013). This activity is the most
affected by the global financial crisis, and is now probably
the least risk. This activity includes office buildings,
consumer shopping compounds and stores. Rentals within
this sector dropped by approximately one half after the
crisis, and this decline limited the expansion of supply,
although there is always some addition to supply every
year because large projects take longer to be developed
and to reach the market. This sector started to stabilize
and rents stopped declining. There has even been a few
increases in rent during 2014 and higher occupancy rates.
For this reason, we can safely say that it is the real estate
sector most likely to be invested in, resulting in raising its
share in the market liquidity and its lowest level of risk,
although it would be more prudent wait and see what the
developments in the oil market are going to be.

Figure 3.

Source: Ministry of Justice, Real Estate Registration and Authentication Department.

Figure 4.

Source: Ministry of Justice, Real Estate Registration and Authentication Department.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS FOR 2014
THE FINANCIAL POSITION
The total assets of the company in 2014 amounted to KD 105.4 million, increasing by approximately KD 6.3 million (about
6.3%), compared to KD 99.1 million in total assets for 2013. The main contributor to the increase of the size of the assets is the
increase in investments in sister companies, growing by KD 9.7 million to reach KD 16.1 million. These investments consisted
of the establishment of Alyal Seif Residence Company in Bahrain, and Injazzat Real Estate Company in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia for the purpose of construction and development of residential compounds in addition to the purchase of ownership
shares in Cancorp Duisburg. It is worth mentioning that these real estate investments were established as separate entities
for establishing ownerships of several parties in one investment, or for tax purposes. Accordingly, real estate assets and
investments of the company represented 86.5% of the total assets in 2014 compared to 84.7% in 2013.
On the other hand, the investment real estate’s portion, which forms the largest item within total assets, dropped from KD
62.2 million (62.7% of total assets) to KD 59.1 million (56% of total assets) in 2014. The Group sold an investment real estate
for KD 6.1 million. account receivables and Other Assets declined by KD 2.9 million to amount to KD 5.5 million (5.2% of total
assets) compared to approximately KD 8.4 million in 2013 (8.5% of total assets).
Cash and Cash Equivalents increased by KD 2 million, or 29.4%, to KD 8.6 million (8.2% of total assets), compared to KD 6.7
million (6.7% of total assets) in 2013.

ASSETS PERFORMANCE DURING THE
YEARS 2010 – 2014

20
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Geographically, the assets of the company were distributed at 10.5% in the local market (10.3% in 2013), 75.1% in the regional
market or the GCC market (79.3% in 2013) and 14.4% in Europe and the United States (10.4% in 2013).

ASSETS GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION
2014

ASSETS GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION
2013

The Company’s liabilities increased by KD 4 million, or 8.7%, to be KD 49.9 million in 2014, compared to KD 45.8% at
the end of 2013. After the continuous reduction in the Company’s debts since 2009 in order to achieve sound financial
structure, the Company managed, for the first time, to finance part of its expansion in the field of real estate investment by
borrowing from financial institutions. Accordingly, bank loans amount to KD 45 million compared to KD 41million at the end
of 2013, increasing by KD 4.1 million. Bank loans represented 42.7% of total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. The ratio of
total liabilities to total assets in 2014 amounted to 47.3% compared to 46.7% in 2013, and the ratio of liabilities to total equity
increased to 89.9% compared 86.2% at the end of 2013.
Total shareholders’ equity amounted to KD 55.5 million compared to KD 53.2 million in 2013, increasing by KD 2.3 million
or 4.3% as a result of the increase in Retained Profits. The book value of the Company’s share increased to 160.5 Fils in 2014
compared to 153.9 Fils for 2013.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Company achieved a net profit (after exclusion of the uncontrolled shares) of KD 1.5 million, increasing by KD 0.786
million compared to the profits of 2013 which amounted to KD 0.7 million. This was achieved as a result of the positive
change in the fair value of investment real estate properties by KD1.3 million, compared to a negative change of KD 0.183
million. Net rental revenues also increased by KD 0.392 million or 29.3% (as a result of the Rental Revenues from Investment
Real Estates, recording a loss of KD 0.185 million compared to a profit of KD 3.6 million in 2013).
On the other hand, there was a small decline in Administrative and General Expenses (including employee’s costs) to KD 1.05
million compared to KD 1.06 million, by a decrease of KD 8.94 thousands. Financing costs remained unchanged at KD 1.56
million. The Company has thus achieved a net profit (before the national manpower support tax and the zakat rate) of KD 1.6
million, an increase of KD 0.815 million, compared to the net profit of KD 0.756 million in 2013.
The basic and lightened earning per share for the shareholders of the parent company was 4.5 Fils, compared to 2.2 Fils per
share in 2013. The Board of Directors has recommended that no dividends be paid for this year. The return on total assets
(ROA) was 1.4% compared to 0.7% in 2013. The return on shareholders’ equity for the shareholders of the parent company
(ROE) was 2.7% compared to 1.4% in 2013.

Ratio

Injazzat Real Estate

Real Estate Sector

Price/Earning per share (P/E)

14.5

15.3

Price/Book Value (P/B)

0.4

0.8

Return on Equity ( ROE )%

2.7%

5.5%

Return on assets ( ROA ) %

1.4%

2.9%

* Calculated based on the annual financial statements available for 38 companies listed in KSE.

ANALYSIS OF THE PERFORMANCE OF THE SHARE IN 2014
The Kuwait Stock Exchange performance declined in 2014, and most indicators fell, due to a lack of urgency on behalf of the
listed companies to address their situational needs, and as a result of negative geo-political factors in the region coupled with
the fall of oil prices during the fourth quarter of 2014. The indicator dropped by 2.4% compared to its level at the end of 2013
and the Company’s share fell by 29.8%.The Real Estate Sector Index also fell by 14.2% during the same period.
The graph below shows the performance of the Company stock price during the last six years (2009-2014), that indicates
the company’s performance and the real estate sector that declined by 71.3% and 22.4% respectively
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INJAZZAT STOCK PERFORMANCE VS REAL ESTATE
SECTOR DURING 2009-20014

The Company’s share price at the end of 2014 closed at 66 Kuwaiti Fils compared to 94 Fils at the end of 2013, while the
market price reached it highest level for 2014 of 96 Fils on 15.1.2014 and reached it lowest level for 2014 on 18.12.2014.

Year 2014

Trade Value
(KD million)

Trading days
Injazzat R.E.
Real Estate Sector
Total Markets

244
12.7
1,008.3
6,117.1

% of Real Estate Sector
% of Markets
Injazzat R.E Turnover
Real Estate Sector Turnover

1.3%
0.2%
55.5%
41.8%

Number of
Transactions
000’

( Traded volume
million shares)

Capitalization
( KD Million )

3.5
259.2
1,197.9

156.8
13,574.3
53,288.6

22.8
2,411.7
29,427.1

1.4%
0.3%

1.2%
0.3%

0.9%
0.1%

* Calculated based on 244 trading days
The value of the Company’s shares traded during 2014 amounted to KD 12.7 million at an average daily rate of KD 51.9
thousand, decreasing by 85% compared to the daily rate of KD 345.4 thousand during 2013. The value of the company’s
traded shares represented 1.26% of the total trades in the Real Estate Sector for 2014, while the number of the Company’s
shares traded was KD 156.8 million at an average daily rate of 642.3 thousand shares, with a decrease of 81.8% compared to
the average daily trading rate of 3.5 million shares during 2013.
The share turnover rate was 55.5%, compared to that of the previous year which was 261.5%, indicating a noticeable
decrease in the level of the Company’s share liquidity, which was higher than the sector’s rate of 41.8% during 2014. The total
market value of the company decreased to KD 22.8 million, representing 1% of the market value of the Real Estate Sector. It
was KD 9.7 million less than the market value achieved at the end of 2013, which amounted to KD 32.5 million.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
31st December 2014

Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners
Ernst & Young
Al Aiban, Al Osaimi & Partners
P.O. Box 74 Safat
13001 Safat, Kuwait
Baitak Tower, 18-21st Floor
Safat Square
Ahmed Al Jaber Street

Tel: 2245 2880/2295 5000
Fax: 2245 6419
kuwait@kw.ey.com
www.ey.com/me

Auditors & Consultants
Souq Al Kabeer Building - Block A - 9th Floor
Tel: (965) 2244 3900-9
Fax: (965) 2243 8451
P.O. Box: 2986, Safat 13030 - Kuwait
E-mail: gt@gtkuwait.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF INJAZZAT REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P.
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Injazzat Real Estate Development Company
K.S.C.P. (the “Parent Company”) and its Subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of
st
financial position as at 31 December 2014, the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management of the Parent Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF INJAZZAT REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (CONTINUED)
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
st
st
Group as of 31 December 2014, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2014 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated financial
statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated
financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations
that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that
is required by the Companies Law No 25 of 2012, as amdended, and it’s executive regulation and by the Parent Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of
our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No 25 of 2012, as amdended and it’s executive regulation,
nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association have occurred during the year
st
ended 31 December 2014 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial
position.
We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of the provisions
of Law No. 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended
st
31 December 2014 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent Company or on its financial position.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI
LICENCE NO. 68 A
EY
AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS

ABDULLATIF M. AL AIBAN (CPA)
LICENCE NO. 94 A
OF GRANT THORNTONAL-QATAMI, AL-AIBAN & PARTNERS

th

11 February 2015
Kuwait
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the year ended 31st December 2014

Notes

2014

2013

KD

KD

2,589,935

2,229,056

Real estate operating costs

(855,778)

(887,701)

NET RENTAL INCOME

1,734,157

1,341,355

Rental income

Change in fair value of investment properties

12

1,258,791

(183,479)

(Loss) / gain on sale of investment properties

12

(185,094)

3,615,420

132,947

77,032

Distribution income from financial assets available for sale
Management and placement fees
Other income

6

Staff costs
Depreciation
General and administrative expenses

202,143

138,597

353,723

397,047

(756,468)

(759,708)

(46,769)

(52,571)

(296,643)

(302,346)

(173,277)

(192,432)

(879,204)

(132,630)

-   

(69,317)

1,344,306
958,237

3,876,968
(958,519)

(1,560,897)

(1,571,959)

831,037

(286,625)

-   

(303,108)

NLST

1,572,683
(41,786)

756,757
(20,639)

Zakat

(16,687)

(7,673)

1,514,210

728,445

1,516,936

730,940

Consultancy and professional fees
Impairment of financial assets available for sale

11

Provision for doubtful debts
OPERATING PROFIT
Share of results of associates

13

Finance Costs
Foreign exchange gain / (loss)
Arbitration settlement

7

PROFIT BEFORE NATIONAL LABOUR SUPPORT TAX (“NLST”) AND ZAKAT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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8

(2,726)

(2,495)

1,514,210

728,445

4.5 Fils

2.2 Fils

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31st December 2014

Profit for the year

2014

2013

KD

KD

1,514,210

728,445

86,240

518,208

754,885

66,850

841,125

585,058

2,355,335

1,313,503

2,358,061

1,315,998

(2,726)

(2,495)

2,355,335

1,313,503

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will be reclassified to consolidated statement of income in subsequent
periods:
Financial assets available for sale:
Net changes in fair value
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations

Total other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to consolidated
statement of income in subsequent periods

Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31st December 2014

Notes

2014

2013

KD

KD

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances

9

8,635,722

6,672,324

Accounts receivable and other assets

10

5,533,272

8,423,598

Financial assets available for sale

11

16,013,358

15,363,051

Investment properties

12

59,071,466

62,188,407

Investment in associates

13

16,074,312

6,357,466

86,670

119,578

105,414,800

99,124,424

Property and equipment
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities

14

4,808,585

4,863,823

Bank loans

15

45,043,085

40,978,084

49,851,670

45,841,907

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Share capital

16

34,564,860

34,564,860

Share premium

16

2,869,130

2,869,130

Statutory reserve

17

7,361,052

7,346,435

Voluntary reserve

17

3,680,527

3,673,218

Treasury shares

18

(1,250,898)

(1,176,176)

Treasury shares reserve

4,471,471

4,471,471

Foreign currency translation reserve

1,283,282

528,397

Cumulative changes in fair value

2,425,994

2,339,754

65,773

(1,429,237)

55,471,191

53,187,852

91,939

94,665

55,563,130

53,282,517

105,414,800

99,124,424

Retained earnings / (accumulated losses)
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Faisal Fahad Al-Shaya
Chairman

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Mohammad Ibrahim Al-Farhan
Chief Executive Officer
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KD

KD

-     

2,869,130

34,564,860

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

2,869,130

premium

capital

34,564,860

Share

Share

7,361,052

14,617

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

7,346,435

KD

reserve

Statutory

-     

(74,722)

(74,722)

-     

-     

-     

(1,176,176)

KD

shares

Treasury

3,680,527 (1,250,898)

7,309

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

3,673,218

KD

reserve

Voluntary

4,471,471

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

4,471,471

KD

reserve

shares

Treasury

1,283,282

-     

-     

-     

754,885

754,885

-     

528,397

KD

reserve

translation

currency

Foreign

2,425,994

-     

-     

-     

86,240

86,240

-     

2,339,754

KD

fair value

change in

Cumulative

65,773

(21,926)

-     

-     

1,516,936

-     

1,516,936

(1,429,237)

KD

earnings

retained

losses) /

(Accumulated

55,471,191

-     

(74,722)

(74,722)

2,358,061

841,125

1,516,936

53,187,852

KD

Sub-total

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.

Balance at 31 December 2014

st

Transfer to reserve

Total transactions with owners

Purchase of treasury shares

Transaction with owners

the year

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for

year

Other comprehensive income for the

Profit (loss) for the year

Balance at 1 January 2014

st

As at 31st December 2014

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

Non -

-     

(74,722)

(74,722)

2,355,335

841,125

1,514,210

53,282,517

KD

equity

Total

91,939 55,563,130

-     

-     

-     

(2,726)

-     

(2,726)

94,665

KD

interests

controlling
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-     

-     

2,869,130

-     

-     

34,564,860

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Total transactions with owners

Balance at 31 December 2013

7,346,435

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

7,346,435

KD

Statutory
reserve

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.

st

-     

-     

Purchase of treasury shares

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

2,869,130

KD

KD

34,564,860

Share
premium

Share
capital

Sale of treasury shares

Transaction with owners

for the year

Total comprehensive income / (loss)

year

Other comprehensive income for the

Profit / (loss) for the year

st

Balance at 1 January 2013

As at 31st December 2014

3,673,218

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

-     

3,673,218

KD

Voluntary
reserve

(1,176,176)

(577,355)

-     

(631,733)

54,378

-     

-     

-     

(598,821)

KD

Treasury
shares

4,471,471

(4,430)

-     

-     

(4,430)

-     

-     

-     

4,475,901

KD

Treasury
shares
reserve

528,397

-     

-     

-     

-     

66,850

66,850

-     

461,547

KD

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

2,339,754

-     

-     

-     

-     

518,208

518,208

-     

1,821,546

KD

(1,429,237)

339,392

339,392

-     

-     

730,940

-     

730,940

(2,499,569)

KD

Cumulative
change in Accumulated
fair value
losses

53,187,852

(242,393)

339,392

(631,733)

49,948

1,315,998

585,058

730,940

52,114,247

KD

Sub-total

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

(631,733)

49,948

1,313,503

585,058

728,445

56,750,799

KD

Total
equity

94,665

(4,539,392)

53,282,517

(4,781,785)

(4,539,392) (4,200,000)

-     

-     

(2,495)

-     

(2,495)

4,636,552

KD

Non controlling
interests

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
As at 31st December 2014

Note

2014

2013

KD

KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1,572,683

Profit before contribution to NLST and Zakat

756,757

Adjustments for:
Distribution income from financial assets available for sale
Loss / (gain) from sale of investment properties

(132,947)

(77,032)

185,094

(3,615,420)

(1,258,791)

183,479

Foreign exchange (gain) / loss

(831,037)

286,625

Share of result of associates

(958,237)

958,519

(1,980)

-

Change in fair value of investment properties

Profit from sale of property and equipments

46,769

52,571

Interest income

(165,206)

(204,515)

Finance costs

1,560,897

1,571,959

879,204

132,630

-

69,317

896,449

114,890

Accounts receivable and other assets

3,721,364

3,125,770

Accounts payable and other liabilities

(564,521)

345,175

Net cash from operating activities

4,053,292

3,585,835

(13,861)

(8,970)

Depreciation

Impairment loss of financial assets available for sale
Provision for doubtful debt
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of financial assets available for sale
Proceeds from redemption / sale of financial assets available for sale

1,980

-

(1,748,633)

(3,406,834)

305,362

1,864,344

(711,182)

(3,908,282)

Proceeds on sale of investment properties

5,900,438

9,539,292

Acquisition of associates

(8,551,533)

-

132,947

1,367,420

Additions to investment properties

Income from financial assets available for sale received
Interest income received
Net cash (used in) / from investing activities

165,206

204,515

(4,519,276)

5,651,485

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(74,722)

(631,733)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

-

(4,200,000)

Sale of treasury shares

-

49,948

Proceed from bank loans

4,065,001

4,200,000

Repayment of bank loans

-

(2,156,741)

Purchase of treasury shares

(1,560,897)

(1,838,262)

Net cash from / (used in) financing activities

2,429,382

(4,576,788)

INCREASE IN CASH AND BANK BALANCES

1,963,398

4,660,532

Finance costs paid

st

Cash and bank balances at 1 January
st

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AT 31 DECEMBER

9

6,672,324

2,011,792

8,635,722

6,672,324

The Attached Notes 1 To 25 Form Part Of These Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
The consolidated financial statements of Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. (the “Parent Company”) and its
st
subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 were authorised for issue in accordance with
th
a resolution of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 9 February 2015. The general assembly of the shareholders of
the Parent Company has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance.
The Group comprises Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and its subsidiaries listed in Note 5.
The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti Shareholding Company was established in August 1998 and listed on the Kuwait Stock
th
Exchange on 17 June 2002. The Group is primarily engaged in the following activities:
- Ownership, purchasing, sale and development of all kinds of investment properties with exception to
residential properties inside and outside the state of Kuwait for the benefit of the Parent Company and
on the behalf of others.
- Ownership and sale of financial assets, bonds relating to real estate companies for the benefit of the 		
Parent Company alone inside and outside the State of Kuwait.
- Preparation and delivery of studies relating to real estate activities.
- Maintenance activities relating to the properties owned by the Parent Company including civil, 		
mechanical, electrical works and all required works to sustain the state of the properties.
- Organisation of real estate conventions relating to the Parent Company’s projects in accordance with
the regulations set out by the Ministry of Commerce.
- Hosting auctions.
- Ownership of malls and residential complexes and managing them.
- Ownership of hotels, health clubs, tourism related facilities and leasing and releasing them.
- Management, operating and leasing all types of investment properties.
- Establishment and management of real estate investment funds.
- It is permitted for the Parent Company’s to invest in managed funds managed by specialized managers.
The Parent Company’s registered address is PO Box 970, Safat 13010, State of Kuwait.

2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of Ministerial Order
No. 18 of 1990.
Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for financial assets
available for sale and investment properties which are stated at fair values.
The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is the Parent Company’s functional and
presentation currency.
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company for the year ended 31
December 2014 and the financial statements of its subsidiaries prepared to a date, as disclosed in Note 5, which are typically
not earlier than three months of the Parent Company’s reporting date, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are
made for the effect of any significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent
Company’s financial statements. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, it has:

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns when the Group has less than a majority of 		
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
All intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full.
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position,
separately from equity attributable to the shareholders’ of the Parent Company.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the
Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
Recognises any surplus or deficit in consolidated statement of income.
Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income to consolidated statement of income, as appropriate.

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
New and amended standards and interpretations
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in
st
previous year, except for the following new and amended IFRS effective as of 1 January 2014. However, the implementation
of new and amended IFRS did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27)
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an
investment entity under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and must be applied retrospectively, subject to certain
transition relief. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through
profit or loss. These amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group qualifies to be an
investment entity under IFRS 10.
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2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32
These amendments clarify the meaning of ’currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off’ and the criteria for nonsimultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting and is applied retrospectively. These
amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group has any offsetting arrangements.
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (Amendments to IAS 36)
The amendments to IAS 36 reduces the circumstances in which the recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units
is required to be disclosed, clarify the disclosures required, and to introduce an explicit requirement to disclose the discount
rate used in determining impairment (or reversals) where recoverable amount (based on fair value less costs of disposal) is
determined using a present value technique. The adoption of the amendment did not result into any material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments to IAS 39)
The Amendment makes it clear that there is no need to discontinue hedge accounting if a hedging derivative is novated,
provided certain criteria are met.
A novation indicates an event where the original parties to a derivative agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace
their original counterparty to become the new counterparty to each of the parties. In order to apply the amendments and
continue hedge accounting, novation to a central counterparty (CCP) must happen as a consequence of laws or regulations
or the introduction of laws or regulations. The adoption of this amendment did not have any significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
IFRIC 21 ‘Levies’ (IFRIC 21)
IFRIC 21 clarifies that:
• the obligating event that gives rise to the liability is the activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as identified
by the government’s legislation. If this activity arises on specific date within an accounting period then the entire
obligation is recognised on that date ;
• the same recognition principles apply in the annual and interim financial statements.
IFRIC 21 has been applied retrospectively in accordance with its transitional provisions but the adoption of this amendment
did not have any significant impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed
below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future
date. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. However, the Group expects no significant
impact from the adoption of the amendments on its consolidated financial position or performance.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The IASB issued IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments in its final form in July 2014 and is effective for annual periods beginning on
st
or after 1 January 2018 with a permission to early adopt. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing and measuring
financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non- financial assets. This standard replaces IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The adoption of this standard will have an effect on the classification
and measurement of Group’s financial assets but is not expected to have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities. The Group is in the process of quantifying the impact of this standard on the Group’s
financial statements, when adopted.
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2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)

IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits clarify the requirements that relate to how contributions from
employees or third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. In addition, it permits
a practical expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, in that
contributions, can, but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction in the service cost in the period in which
the related service is rendered.
The amendment is not expected to have any material impact to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity method in
its separate financial statements will have to apply that change retrospectively. For first-time adopters of IFRS electing to use
the equity method in its separate financial statements, they will be required to apply this method from the date of transition to
st
IFRS. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted.
These amendments will not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The application of these standards will be made in the consolidated financial statements when these standards become
effective. The Group’s management is yet to assess the impact of the application of these standards on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue.
The new revenue standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
st
IFRS. Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 and plans to adopt the new standard
on the required effective date.
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint
venture, as follows:
• require full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or con
tribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
• require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or 		
joint venture.
These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of
assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in an subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of
the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.
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2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations - Amendments
Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements require an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity
constitutes a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations) to apply all of the business combinations accounting
principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except for those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11. It also requires
disclosure of the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations.
The amendments apply both to the initial acquisition of an interest in joint operation, and the acquisition of an additional
interest in a joint operation (in the latter case, previously held interests are not remeasured). The amendments apply
prospectively to acquisitions of interests in joint operations. The Group is in the process of quantifying the impact of this
standard on the Group’s financial statements, when adopted.
IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 1 make the following changes:
• Materiality: The amendments clarify that (1) information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing
immaterial information, (2) materiality considerations apply to the all parts of the financial statements, and (3) 		
even when a standard requires a specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply.
• Statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: The 		
amendments (1) introduce a clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can be 		
disaggregated and aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements and (2) clarify
that an entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate
as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss.
• Notes: The amendments add additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that 		
understandability and comparability should be considered when determining the order of the notes and to 		
demonstrate that the notes need not be presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114 of IAS 1. The IASB
also removed guidance and examples with regard to the identification of significant accounting policies that were
perceived as being potentially unhelpful.
IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants - Amendments
The Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture have been made to:
• include ‘bearer plants’ within the scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41, allowing such assets to be 		
accounted for a property, plant and equipment and measured after initial recognition on a cost or revaluation 		
basis in accordance with IAS 16
• introduce a definition of ‹bearer plants› as a living plant that is used in the production or supply of agricultural 		
produce, is expected to bear produce for more than one period and has a remote likelihood of being sold as 		
agricultural produce, except for incidental scrap sales
• clarify that produce growing on bearer plants remains within the scope of IAS 41.
IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation - Amendments
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets address the following matters:
• a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset is
not appropriate for property, plant and equipment
• an amortisation method that is based on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an 		
intangible asset is generally inappropriate except for limited circumstances
• expected future reductions in the selling price of an item that was produced using an asset could indicate the 		
expectation of technological or commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction of
the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
The Group’s management have yet to assess the impact of these new standard on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
Annual improvements
These improvements are effective from 1st July 2014 and are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.
They include:
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 ‘Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception - Amendments
The Amendments are aimed at clarifying the following aspects:
• Exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements. The amendments confirm that the exemption from
preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate parent entity is available to a parent entity that is
a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.
• A subsidiary providing services that relate to the parent’s investment activities. A subsidiary that provides services
related to the parent’s investment activities should not be consolidated if the subsidiary itself is an investment		
entity.
• Application of the equity method by a non-investment entity investor to an investment entity investee. When 		
applying the equity method to an associate or a joint venture, a non-investment entity investor in an investment
entity may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.
• Disclosures required. An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value provides the disclosures
relating to investment entities required by IFRS 12.
The Group’s management have yet to assess the impact of these new standard on the Group’s financial statements.
Annual improvements
st
These improvements are effective from 1 July 2014 and are not expected to have a material impact on the Group. They
include:
IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
Amendments to IFRS 1-the amendment to the Basis for Conclusions clarifies that an entity preparing its IFRS financial
statements in accordance with IFRS 1 is able to use both:
• IFRSs that are currently effective
• IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, that permits early adoption
The same version of each IFRS must be applied to all periods presented.
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
This improvement is applied prospectively and clarifies various issues relating to the definitions of performance and
service conditions which are vesting conditions, including:
• A performance condition must contain a service condition
• A performance target must be met while the counterparty is rendering service
• A performance target may relate to the operations or activities of an entity, or to those of another entity in the
same group
• A performance condition may be a market or non-market condition
If the counterparty, regardless of the reason, ceases to provide service during the vesting period, the service condition is not
satisfied
IFRS 3 Business Combinations
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that all contingent consideration arrangements classified as liabilities
(or assets) arising from a business combination should be subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss whether
or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 9 (or IAS 39, as applicable).
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Amendments to IFRS 5 - Adds specific guidance in IFRS 5 for cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from held for sale
to held for distribution or vice versa and cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued.
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2. SINGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosure
Amendments to IFRS 7 - Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred
asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in condensed interim financial statements.
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
The amendments are applied retrospectively and clarify that:
An entity must disclose the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria in paragraph 12 of IFRS 8,
including a brief description of operating segments that have been aggregated and the economic characteristics (e.g., sales
and gross margins) used to assess whether the segments are ‘similar’. The reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is
only required to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker, similar to the required
disclosure for segment liabilities.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be applied not only to
financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of IFRS 9 (or IAS 39, as applicable).
IAS 19 Employee Benefits
Amendments to IAS 9 - Clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for post-employment
benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid.
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that the asset may be revalued by reference to
observable data on either the gross or the net carrying amount. In addition, the accumulated depreciation or amortisation is
the difference between the gross and carrying amounts of the asset.
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
The amendment is applied retrospectively and clarifies that a management entity (an entity that provides key management
personnel services) is a related party subject to the related party disclosures. In addition, an entity that uses a management
entity is required to disclose the expenses incurred for management services.
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
Amendments to IAS 34 - Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a cross-reference
IAS 40 Investment Property
The description of ancillary services in IAS 40 differentiates between investment property and owner-occupied property (i.e.,
property, plant and equipment). The amendment is applied prospectively and clarifies that IFRS 3, and not the description
of ancillary services in IAS 40, is used to determine if the transaction is the purchase of an asset or business combination.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies and measurements bases adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are summarized below:
Business combination and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition accounting method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are
expensed and included in administrative expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement of income.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s share in the
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. If the cost of acquisition is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statement
of income.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cashgenerating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) and part of the operations within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based
on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash generation unit retained.
Investment in associate
The Group’s investment in its associate is initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity
method. An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence but which are neither subsidiaries nor joint
ventures.
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
The consolidated statement of income reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been
a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment in associate (continued)
The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of income. This is the result attributable
to equity holders of the associate and therefore is the result after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the
associate.
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional impairment
loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in the
‘share of result of an associate’ in the consolidated statement of income.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retaining investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of
the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in consolidated statement of income.
Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset as current when it is:
• Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 		
months after the reporting period
All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is current when:
• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to
determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue
arrangements.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
Rental income
Rental income is recognised on accrual basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Gain from sale of investment properties
Realised gains on sale of investment properties are recognised when a sale is consummated and contracts are signed; the
buyer’s investment to the date of the consolidated financial statements is adequate to demonstrate a commitment to pay for
the property; the Group’s receivable is not subject to future subordination; and the Group has transferred to the buyer the
usual risks and rewards of ownership in a transaction that is in substance a sale and does not have a substantial continuing
involvement with the property.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.
Management and placement fee income
Management and placement fees are recognised when related services are rendered. Other fees are recognised when earned.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the outstanding balance payable and applicable
interest rate.
Finance costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are
complete. Other finance costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Taxation
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)
The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the period in accordance with the modified calculation
based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve should be
excluded from profit for the period when determining the contribution.
Accumulated losses brought forward can be deducted from the adjusted profit for the year when calculating the KFAS
contribution for the year.
National Labour Support Tax (NLST)
The Group calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. As per law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed
companies which are subjected to NLST have been deducted from the profit for the year.
Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution
No. 58/2007.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or financial assets available for sale. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition.
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.
The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and unquoted financial assets available
for sale.
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs
for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.
After initial recognition, financial assets available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or
losses recognised as other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss
is reclassified to the consolidated statement of income.
Financial assets available for sale whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when there is no
possibility of recovery.
Cash and bank balances
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and bank balances consist of cash and bank balances and
short-term deposits with contractual maturities of three months or less.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 		
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets may be impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
Financial assets available for sale
For financial assets available for sale, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset available for sale or a group of financial assets available for sale is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as financial assets available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the equity investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on those financial assets available for sale previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity
investments are not reversed through the consolidated statement of income; increase in their fair value after impairment is
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In the case of debt instruments classified as financial assets available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same
criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss
measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and loan
and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, including directly attributable
transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include loan and borrowings, and accounts payable and other liabilities.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method (EIR). Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR.
Accounts payable
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier
or not.
Financial liability
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
the consolidated statement of income.
Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Fair values of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs.
For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by using
valuation techniques, such as recent arm’s length transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument
that is substantially the same, an earnings multiple, or is based on the expected cash flows of the investment discounted at
current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics. Fair value estimates take into account liquidity
constraints and assessment for any impairment.
Investments with no reliable measures of their fair values are carried at their initial cost less impairment in value.
An analysis of fair value of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 24.
Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of
replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and
excludes the costs of day to day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise. Fair
values are estimated by management with the assistance of valuation provided by accredited external valuers.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (continued)
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the
period of derecognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment
property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in
use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The carrying amounts
are reviewed at each reporting date to assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts. Where
carrying values exceed recoverable amounts assets are written down to their recoverable amount.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on all property and equipment at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight
line basis over its estimated useful life as follows:
-

Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

3-5 years

The useful economic lives of property and equipment are reviewed at the end of the each year and revised where necessary.
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in
use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation
model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other
available fair value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for land or building previously revalued where the
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the assets or cash generating
units recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal
is limited so that the carrying amount of the assets does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase in other comprehensive income.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fiduciary assets
Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not included in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
Equity, reserves and dividend
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing
of shares are deducted from share premium.
Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with the
requirements of the companies’ law and the Parent Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association.
Other components of equity include the following:
• foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the 		
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD
• Cumulative changes in fair value reserve – comprises gains and losses relating to available for sale financial assets
Retained earnings / (Accumulated losses) include all current and prior period retained profits / (loss). All transactions with
owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity.
Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved
in a general meeting.
Treasury shares
The Group’s own shares are accounted for as treasury shares and are stated at cost. When the treasury shares are sold,
gains are credited to a separate account in equity (treasury shares reserve) which is non-distributable. Any realised losses are
charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained
earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously
recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. No cash dividends are
distributed on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces
the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) resulting from a past event and the
costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable
evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where
there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of
money is material.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
End of service indemnity
The Parent and its local subsidiaries provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits
is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period in
accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over
the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result of
termination on the reporting date.
With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are
expensed when due.
Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinar, which is also the Parent Company’s functional
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange
ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to “foreign exchange gain/loss” in the consolidated statement of income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on non-monetary asset classified
as “investment properties” are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of income and
“available for sale” are reported as part of the cumulative change in fair value reserve, within other comprehensive income.
Group companies
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the Parent Company’s presentation
currency (the Kuwaiti Dinar) at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, and their statements of income are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to foreign exchange
translation reserve within other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to the particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at closing
rate.
Segmental information
The Group’s operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the chief executive functions that are
used for strategic decisions. These segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They
are managed separately since the nature of the products and services, class of customers and marketing strategies of these
segments are different.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements require management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about the assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
require a material adjustment to the amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
Classification of real estate property
Management decides on acquisition of real estate whether it should be classified as held for sale or investment property.
Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are subsequently measured at cost or net realisable
value whichever is lower or at fair value.
The Group classifies property as held for sale if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of business.
The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital appreciation,
or for undetermined future use.
Classification of financial instruments
Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at acquisition. Such
judgement determines whether it is subsequently measured at cost, amortised cost or at fair value and if the changes in fair
value of instruments are reported in the consolidated statement of income or other comprehensive income.
The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short term profit
making.
Classification of financial assets as fair value through profit or loss depends on how management monitors the performance
of these financial assets. When they are not classified as held for trading but have readily available fair values and the changes
in fair values are reported as part of income statement in the management accounts, they are designated as fair value through
profit or loss.
Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or determinable payments the financial asset is
classified as loans and receivables.
All other financial assets are classified as available- for- sale.
Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as a result of business combination
requires significant judgement.
Impairment of financial assets available for sale
The Group treats available- for- sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is
“significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including normal
volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below:
Impairment of trade receivables
An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no longer
probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not
individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of
time past due, based on historical recovery rates.
Valuation of unquoted equity investments
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:
recent arm’s length market transactions;
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same;
an earnings multiple;
the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk 			
characteristics; or
other valuation models.
Impairment of associates
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss on
the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on existence of any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated
statement of income.
Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected
utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the utility of certain
software and equipment.
Revaluation of investment properties
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the consolidated
statement of income. Fair values are estimated by management with the assistance of valuation provided external valuers
who have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values.
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5. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The Group’s consolidated subsidiaries are as follows:
Percentage ownership
Country of
incorporation

2014

2013

Injazzat Entertainment Enterprises – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

Injazzat Real Estate – France

France

100%

100%

Dhow Real Estate Company - B.S.C. (Closed)

Bahrain

100%

100%

Al-Dhow International Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

Al Mal and Aqar Joint Project Company – W.L.L.

Kuwait

100%

100%

Al Quoz International General Trading and Contracting Company –
W.L.L.

Kuwait

60%

60%

Injazzat Lusail Company – W.L.L.

Kuwait

99%

99%

Amwaj Real Estate Development Company – K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

99%

99%

UAE

100%

100%

Luxemburg

100%

-

Al Bateel Real Estate Company – L.L.C.
Injazzat S.A.R.L. (a)

st

The financial year end of all the above subsidiaries is 31 December except for Injazzat Real Estate – France which has a
th
financial year end of 30 September.
(a) Incorporation of a subsidiary
During the year, the Parent Company formed an entity, Injazzat S.A.R.L. in Luxemburg, for the purpose of acquiring
investments in Europe. The Parent Company contributed in full in the paid up share capital of the subsidiary amounting to
Euro 12,500, representing 100% of the voting shares.

6. OTHER INCOME
2014

2013

KD

KD
4,411

13,495

Interest income from accounts receivable

165,206

191,020

Other income

184,106

192,532

353,723

397,047

Interest income from cash and bank balances

7. PROVISION FOR ARBITRATION SETTLEMENT
In June 2013, the Group had a dispute with one of the former tenants; of a rented building located in UAE, who was claiming
for certain advance rent paid due to cancellation of rent agreements before the termination date. Consequently, the Group
entered into arbitration proceedings with the claimant. The parties agreed and the Group has paid an amount of KD 303,108
to the claimant as full and final settlement upon finalization of the arbitration proceedings.
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8. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year less treasury shares. As there are no
dilutive instruments outstanding basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.
2014
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company (KD)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares)

2013

1,516,936

730,940

334,165,029

337,681,506

4.5 Fils

2.2 Fils

Basic and diluted earnings per share

9. CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and bank balances included in the consolidated statement of cash flows consist of the following:

Cash and bank balances

2014

2013

KD

KD

8,635,722

6,672,324

8,635,722

6,672,324

Bank balances include call accounts which yield interest rate varying between of 0.5% to 1% (2013: 0.5% to 1%) per annum.

10. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS
2014

2013

KD

KD

Financial assets
Due from an associate company (Note 19)

352,759

Due from other related parties (Note 19)

348,637

283,257

3,794,063

3,653,672

436,024

956,918

4,931,483

7,242,719

Due on sale of investment property
Other financial assets

2,348,872

Non-financial assets
18,765

18,179

583,024

1,162,700

Advances to contractors
Prepayment and other assets

601,789

1,180,879

5,533,272

8,423,598

Due on sale of investment property represents receivables which yield an effective interest rate of 5% (2013: 5.5%) per
annum.
st

st

The Group does not have any past due but not impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.
st

The fair value of the outstanding financial assets approximated the carrying value as at 31 December 2014 and 2013.
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11. FINANCIAL ASSESTS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Real estate funds
Special purposes real estate entities
Unquoted real estate equity investments
Debt financing

2014

2013

KD

KD
87,205

436,377

3,215,714

3,748,927

10,876,496

10,991,962

1,833,943

185,785

16,013,358

15,363,051

Financial assets available for sale primarily represent investments in real estate development projects and portfolios through
specialised real estate investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the unpredictability of their cash flows
and the absence of an active market for these investments, fair value is not reliably measurable. As a result, such investments
are carried at cost less impairment, if any and the carrying amount of such investments amounted to KD 6,613,208 (2013:
KD 5,741,531).
Financial assets available for sale include investments with a carrying value of KD 3,688,547 (2013: KD 4,328,992) which
represent investments in real estate entities in which the Group has an equity interest exceeding 20% and 50%. These
entities represent temporary special purpose entities established to facilitate the Group’s investments in certain foreign
real estate projects. The Group does not exercise control or significant influence over these entities as they are managed
by independent specialist property development managers. As a result investments in these entities have been classified as
financial assets available for sale.
During the year, the Parent Company recorded an impairment loss of KD 879,204 (2013: KD 132,630) on certain investments
with exposure to the US and European real estate market based on recent information provided by investment managers.
The hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation techniques is presented in
Note 24.
Available for sale investments with a carrying value of KD 6,994,747 (2013: KD 6,633,882) are secured against bank loans
(Note 15).
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2014

2013

KD

KD

62,188,407

76,063,887

Additions

711,182

15,891,443

Disposals

(6,085,532)

(29,533,861)

1,258,791

(183,479)

At 1 January

Change in fair value
Foreign currency translation adjustment
st

At 31 December

998,618

(49,583)

59,071,466

62,188,407

a)

Investment property with a carrying value of KD 4,832,438 (2013: KD 4,653,624) is held in the name of 		
nominees. The nominees have confirmed in writing that the Parent Company is the beneficial owner of the 		
properties. Investment properties include jointly controlled investment properties with a carrying value of 		
KD 16,489,720 (2013: KD 18,893,217).
st
b)
Investment properties with a carrying value of KD 45,804,228 (31 December 2013: KD 49,871,257) are secured
		 against the bank loans (Note 15).
c)
In addition, the Group has disposed an investment property with a carrying value of KD 6,085,532 (2013: KD 		
8,733,861) for a consideration of KD 5,900,438 (2013: KD 8,949,181) which resulted in a loss on sale of investment
property of KD 185,094 (2013: gain KD 215,320).
st
d)
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group transferred investment properties with an aggregate 		
carrying value of KD 20,800,000 to local banks for a total consideration of KD 24,200,100 against 			
settlement of Ijara Sukuk payable including accrued profit amounting to KD 17,095,948 and bank loan and accrued
interest amounting to KD 6,671,789 and the remaining balance of KD 432,363 was settled in cash by the bank. This
has resulted in a realised gain on disposal of KD 3,400,100.

e) The Group’s investment properties are located as follows:
2014

2013

KD

KD

Kuwait

8,500,000

8,500,000

Other GCC countries

50,571,466

53,688,407

59,071,466

62,188,407

The fair value of the investment property has been determined based on valuations obtained from two independent valuers,
who are industry specialist in valuing these types of investment properties. One of these valuers is a local bank (for local
investment properties) who has valued the investment properties using the Yield Method for some properties, and the
combination of the market comparison approach for the land and cost minus depreciation approach of the building for other
investment properties. The other is a local reputable accredited valuer who has valued the investment properties using the
Yield Method. For the valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower value of these two valuations as required by the
Capital Market Authority (CMA).
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
As the significant valuation inputs used are based on unobservable market data, the fair value measurement of investment
properties has been categorized as level 3.
The significant assumptions used in the valuations are set out below:

Kuwait

2014
Estimated market price for the land (per sqm) (KD)

GCC
1,460

437

226

183

Construction costs (per sqm) (KD)
Average monthly rent (per sqm) (KD)
Yield rate
Vacancy rate

11

12

8%

8%

10%

10%

Kuwait

2013
Estimated market price for the land (per sqm) (KD)
Construction costs (per sqm) (KD)
Average monthly rent (per sqm) (KD)
Yield rate
Vacancy rate

GCC
1,227

85

473

20

11

7

8%

8%

10%

10%

Sensitivity analysis
The table below presents the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the most significant assumptions underlying the
valuation of the investment properties.
Changes in
valuation
assumptions
2014

Kuwait

GCC

KD   

KD

Estimated market price for the land

+/- 5%

365,000

884,824

Average rent

+/- 5%

32,500

651,832

Yield rate

+/- 5%

52,000

670,455

Vacancy rate

+/- 5%

32,500

651,832

+/- 5%

306,800

2,684,721

2013
Estimated market price for the land

56

Average rent

+/- 5%

425,000

442,287

Yield rate

+/- 5%

404,762

421,225

Vacancy rate

+/- 5%

425,000

442,287
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
13.1 Details of the Group’s associates are set out below:

Percentage ownership
Country of
incorporation
Ikaros Real Estate Company K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

2014

2013

45%

45%

Al Bersha Real Estate Company K.S.C. (Closed)

Kuwait

35%

35%

Al Yal Real Estate Company W.L.L.

Bahrain

50%

50%

Al Boom Real Estate Company W.L.L. *

KSA

-

15%

Al Sanbook Real Estate L.L.C.**

UAE

15%

15%

Bahrain

50%

-

Injazzat Real Estate Company L.L.C.***

Saudi Arabia

20%

-

Cancorp Duisburg S.A.R.L.****

Luxemburg

50%

-

Al Yal Seef Residence Company W.L.L. ***

The principal activity of the associates is real estate development.
*

During the year, Al Boom Real Estate Company W.L.L. was liquidated and the Group received a consideration 		
equivalent to the carrying value resulting in no gain or loss.

**

The investment in Al Sanbook Real Estate L.L.C. is classified as investment in associate because the Group exercises
significant influence over this company through agreements entered with other strategic investors.

***

During the current year, the Group established Al Yal Seef Residence Company W.L.L. in the Kingdom of Bahrain
and Injazzat Real Estate Company L.L.C. in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, along with other strategic investors, for
the purpose of the construction and development of residential complexes. The Group classified these investments
as investment in associates because the Group exercises significant influence over these companies through
agreements entered with strategic investors.

****

The Group acquired equity interest in Cancorp Duisburg S.A.R.L. for the total consideration of KD 4,107,898. The
Group classified this investment as investment in associate because the Group exercises significant influence over this
company through agreements entered with other strategic investors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Movement in carrying amount of investment in associates:

st

2014

2013

KD

KD

6,357,466

At 1 January

20,646,678

Additions

12,441,042

-     

Disposals

(3,889,510)

(11,983,161)

-     

(1,367,420)

Share of results for the year

958,237

(958,519)

Foreign currency translation adjustment

207,077

19,888

16,074,312

6,357,466

Return of capital

st

At 31 December

The fair value of investment in associates could not be reliably measured as the associates are unquoted and they do not
have published quoted prices.
st

Investment in associates with a carrying value of KD 2,813,816 at 31 December 2014 (2013: KD 1,531,533) are secured
against the bank loans (Note 15).
13.2 Summarised financial information of the Group’s material associates are set out below:
a) Al Bersha Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed) :
2014

2013

KD

KD

9,976,382

9,678,424

347,139

361,711

10,323,521

10,040,135

3,400,000

6,668,180

280,361

311,498

Total liabilities

3,680,361

6,979,678

Net assets

6,643,160

3,060,457

Non - current assets
Current assets
Total assets

Non - current liabilities
Current liabilities

2013

KD

KD

1,199,783

763,878

Profit for the year

578,269

162,679

Total comprehensive income for the year

578,269

162,679

Revenue
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
13.2 Summarised financial information of the Group’s material associates are set out below: (continued)
Al Bersha Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed) - (continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position is give below:
2014

2013

KD

KD

Group’s ownership interest (%)

35%

35%

Net assets of the associate

6,643,160

3,060,457

Group’s share of net assets

2,325,106

1,071,160

Carrying amount

2,325,106

1,071,160

b) Ikaros Real Estate Company – K.S.C. (Closed):
2014

2013

KD

KD

Current assets

2,199,043

156,271

Total assets

2,199,043

156,271

18,084

10,634

Current liabilities

18,084

10,634

2,180,959

145,637

Total liabilities
Net assets

Revenue

2014

2013

KD

KD

2,162,816

-      

Profit / (loss) for the year

2,035,322

(14,450)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year

2,035,322

(14,450)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position is give below:
2014
Group’s ownership interest (%)
Net assets of the associate

2013

KD

KD

45%

45%

2,180,959

145,637

Group’s share of net assets

981,432

65,536

Carrying amount

981,432

65,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
13.2 Summarised financial information of the Group’s material associates are set out below: (continued)
c) Al Yal Seef Residence Company W.L.L.:
2014
KD
7,781,910

Non-current assets

249,056

Current assets

8,030,966

Total assets
Non-current liabilities

1,047,948

Total liabilities

1,047,948

Net assets

6,983,018
2014
KD

Revenue

535,626

Profit for the year

459,228

Total comprehensive income for the year

459,228

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position is give below:
2014
KD
Group’s ownership interest (%)

60

50%

Net assets of the associate

6,983,018

Group’s share of net assets

3,491,509

Carrying amount

3,491,509
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

13. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
13.2 Summarised financial information of the Group’s material associates are set out below: (continued)
d) Al Yal Real Estate Company:

Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

2014

2013

KD

KD

6,563,783
364,084

4,701,134

6,927,867

11,022,102

-   

4,693,930

346,433

-   

346,433

4,693,930

6,581,434

6,328,172

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

6,320,968

2014

2013

KD

KD
-     

(1,525,670)

Loss for the year

(13,377)

(1,530,655)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(13,377)

(1,530,655)

Revenue

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information of the associate with the carrying amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position is give below:
2014

2013

KD

KD

50%

50%

6,581,434

6,328,172

Group’s ownership interest (%)
Net assets of the associate
Group’s share of net assets

3,290,717

3,164,086

Carrying amount

3,290,717

3,164,086

Set out below is the aggregate financial information for the group’s individually immaterial associates.
2014

2013

KD

KD

Group’s share of results

(382,978)

(243,627)

Group’s share of total comprehensive income

(382,978)

(243,627)

5,985,548

2,056,684

Aggregate carrying amount of group’s interest in these associates
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES
2014

2013

KD

KD

1,091,171

Accounts payable

914,187

1,094,600

-

Rent received in advance

537,429

691,463

Accrued expenses

381,808

581,428

Due to other related parties (Note 19)

386,373

277,580

Due to an associate company (Note 19)

Other liabilities

1,317,204

2,399,165

4,808,585

4,863,823

15. BANK LOANS
Effective interest
rate
Local banks – Kuwaiti Dinar

CBK discount rate
+ 1.5% to 2%

Security

2014
KD

2013
KD

Secured

45,043,085

40,978,084

45,043,085

40,978,084

2014
KD

2013
KD

The loans are due for repayment as follows:

Within one year

4,504,308

-

One to Five years

40,538,777

40,978,084

45,043,085

40,978,084

The loans are secured by certain financial assets available for sale, investment properties and investments in associates of the
Group (Notes 11, 12 & 13) and the loans are for a period of 5 years with a grace period of 12 months and is due for repayment
in instalments commencing from 2014.

16. GENERAL ASSEMBLY MEETING, SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
th

Annual General Assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company held on 24 April 2014 approved the consolidated
st
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 and directors’ proposal not to distribute any dividends for the
year then ended.
st

At 31 December 2014, the authorised, issued and fully paid share capital in cash of the Parent Company comprised
345,648,600 shares of 100 fils each (2013: 345,648,600 shares of 100 fils each). Share premium is not available for
distribution.

62

Annual Report 2014

www.injazzat.com

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

17. RESERVES
a) Statutory reserve
As required by the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association, 10% of profit
for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration and after offsetting accumulated losses
brought forward, is required to be transferred to statutory reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
annual transfers when the reserve equals or exceeds 50% of paid-up share capital.
Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid-up
share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the distribution of a dividend of that amount.
During the year, KD 14,617 was transferred from retained earnings to statutory reserve (2013: no transfers have been made
to statutory reserve since accumulated losses brought forward have not been fully recovered)..
b) Voluntary reserve
In accordance with the Parent Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association, 5% of the profit attributable to
shareholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat, NLST and directors’ remuneration and after
offsetting accumulated losses brought forward is to be transferred to voluntary reserve.
The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such transfers by a resolution of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors.
There are no restrictions on distribution of voluntary reserve provided the distribution is approved by the shareholders
general assembly.
During the year, KD 7,309 was transferred from retained earnings to voluntary reserve (2013: no transfers have been made
to reserves since accumulated losses brought forward have not been fully recovered).

18. TREASURY SHARES
The details of treasury shares are as follows:
2014

2013

Cost

1,250,898

1,176,176

Number of treasury shares

11,989,824

10,921,718

3.47%

3.16%

755,359

1,026,640

Percentage of capital
Market value – KD

Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available for distribution.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties represent the major shareholders, associates, directors, entities under common control and key management
personnel of the Group and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group are principal owners
or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions
are approved by the Group’s management.
Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:
2014

2013

KD

KD

Transactions included in the consolidated statement of income:
-    

2,409

Due from an associate company (Note 10)

352,759

2,348,872

Due from other related parties (Note 10)

348,637

283,257

Management and placement fees
Balances in the consolidated statement of financial position:

386,373

277,580

1,094,600

-

Transfer of associate

-    

(11,983,161)

Acquisition of Investment Properties

-    

11,983,161

Due to other related parties (Note 14)
Due to an associate (Note 14)

Due from/to other related parties represents entities under common control.
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
The remunerations of key management personnel of the Group during the year were as follow:

Salaries and short-term benefits
Employees’ end of service benefits
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2014

2013

KD

KD

296,336

297,219

34,615

34,615

330,951

331,834
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697,758
(185,094)
132,947
202,143
149,905
-

561,033
203,818
(756,468)

Change in fair value of investment properties

(Loss) / gain on sale of investment properties

Distribution income from financial assets available for sale

Management and placement fees

Finance costs

711,182

47,965,630
-   

Segment liabilities

Capital expenditure

1,886,130

24,395,687

81,019,113

-

-

Total assets

Profit for the year

NLST and Zakat

Arbitration settlement

Foreign exchange gain / (loss)
(58,473)

1,489,223
(160,052)

(144,917)
1,118,289

Segment results

Share of results of associates
(1,274)

-

(96,701)

(879,204)

-  

Impairment loss of financial assets available for sale

Provision for doubtful debts

927,738

(36,987)

(136,290)

Consultancy and professional fees

(1,559,623)

(1,618)
(29,886)

(45,151)
(266,757)

Depreciation

General and administrative expenses

Staff costs

Other income

1,439,259

294,898

(501,696)

(354,082)

Segment operating costs

Segment gross profit

1,940,955

648,980

KD

KD

Segment revenue

International

Domestic

2014

668,045

711,182

49,851,760

105,414,800

8,970

(43,920,077)

23,299,192

(28,312)
1,514,210

(303,108)

-   

(286,625)

(1,571,470)

(101,288)

3,359,221

-

-

(177,395)

(259,765)

(47,035)

(759,708)

316,253

-

-

3,400,100

567,448

319,323

(348,722)

KD

Domestic

(58,473)

831,037

(1,560,897)

958,237

1,344,306

-

(879,204)

(173,277)

(296,643)

(46,769)

(756,468)

353,723

202,143

132,947

(185,094)

1,258,791

1,734,157

(855,778)

2,589,935

KD

Total

15,891,443

(1,921,830)

75,825,232

-

-

-

(489)

(857,231)

517,747

(69,317)

(132,630)

(15,037)

(42,581)

(5,536)

-

80,794

138,597

77,032

215,320

(750,927)

1,022,032

(538,979)

1,561,011

KD

International

2013

15,900,413

(45,841,907)

99,124,424

728,445

(28,312)

(303,108)

(286,625)

(1,571,959)

(958,519)

3,876,968

(69,317)

(132,630)

(192,432)

(302,346)

(52,571)

(759,708)

397,047

138,597

77,032

3,615,420

(183,479)

1,341,355

(887,701)

2,229,056

KD

Total

For management purposes, the Group’s activities are concentrated in real estate investments. The Group’s activities are concentrated in two main segments: Domestic (Kuwait)
and International (Kingdom of Bahrain, United Arab Emirates, Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Europe and USA). The Group’s segments information is as follows:

20. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

As at 31st December 2014
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

21. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the reporting date the Group had no capital commitments (2013: KD Nil).

22. FIDUCIARY ASSETS
Fiduciary assets comprise investments managed on behalf of clients amounting to KD 51,783 (2013: KD 56,600).

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing
profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities.
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise due to banks, accounts payable and other liabilities and banks loans. The
main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise funds for Group operations. The Group has various financial assets such
as accounts receivable and other assets, Cash and bank balances, investment securities which arise directly from operations.
The Group is exposed to the following risks:
Risks arising from financial instruments:
i. Credit risk which includes default risk of clients and counterparties
ii. Liquidity risk
iii. Market risk which includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price risks
The Parent Company’s Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for
approving the risk strategies and principles.
23.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party
to incur a financial loss. The Group credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group
seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or business through
diversification of its activities, with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as
summarized below:

Cash and bank balances (Note 9)
Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 10)

2014

2013

KD

KD

8,635,722

6,672,324

4,931,483

7,242,719

13,567,205

13,915,043

The credit risk for cash and bank balances is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks and financial
institutions.
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Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
23.1 Credit risk (continued)
st

As at 31 December 2014, the maximum credit exposure to a single counter party amounts to KD 352,758 (2013: KD 2,343,823).
Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk
The distribution of financial assets by geographic region is as follows:
GCC

Europe

USA

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

2014
Cash and bank balances (Note 9)

7,736,699

534,331

364,692

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets ( Note 10)

4,770,398

-

161,085

4,931,483

12,507,097

534,331

525,777

13,567,205

GCC

Europe

USA

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

2013

Cash and bank balances (Note 9)

4,752,088

1,916,467

3,769

6,672,324

Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 10)

7,140,849

-

101,870

7,242,719

11,892,937

1,916,467

105,639

13,915,043

The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by
group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. The Group’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.
None of Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

23.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this risk, the Parent
Company’s management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors
liquidity on a regular basis.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities based on contractual undiscounted repayment
obligations.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
23.2 Liquidity risk (continued)
The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future interest payments over the
life of these financial liabilities. The liquidity profile of financial liabilities is as follows:

Up to 1 month

1-3
months

3-12
months

1-6
years

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

2014
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities

3,023,236

493,040

608,150

684,159

4,808,585

Bank loans

4,504,308

405,388

1,216,163

44,423,742

50,549,601

7,527,544

898,428

1,824,313

45,107,901

55,358,186

Up to 1 month

1-3
months

3-12
months

1-6
years

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

2013
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities

2,071,633

Bank loans

372,335

2,419,855

-   

4,863,823

72,450

358,558

1,075,675

45,000,488

46,507,171

2,144,083

730,893

3,495,530

45,000,488

51,370,994

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for financial assets available for
sale investments and investment properties, the maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the
remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile for financial assets available
for sale investments and investment properties is determined based on management’s planned exit dates.
st

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2014:

Up to 1 month

1-3
months

3-12
months

1-6
Years

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

Assets
Cash and bank balances

8,635,722

-      

-      

-      

8,635,722

Accounts receivable and other assets

1,004,994

1,352,759

3,175,519

-      

5,533,272

Financial assets available for sale

-      

-      

-      

16,013,358

16,013,358

Investment properties

-      

-      

-      

59,071,466

59,071,466

Investment in associates

-      

-      

-      

16,074,312

16,074,312

Property and equipment

-      

-      

-      

86,670

86,670

9,640,716

1,352,759

3,175,519

91,245,806

105,414,800

3,023,236

493,040

608,150

684,159

4,808,585

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Bank loans
Net liquidity gap
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-      

-      

-      

45,043,085

45,043,085

3,023,236

493,040

608,150

45,727,244

49,851,670

6,617,480

859,719

2,567,369

45,518,562

55,563,130

Injazzat Real Estate Development Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31st December 2014

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
23.2 Liquidity risk (continued)
st

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2013:

Up to 1 month

1-3
months

3-12
months

1-6
Years

Total

KD

KD

KD

KD

KD

Assets
Cash and bank balances
Accounts receivable and other assets

6,672,324

-

-      

-      

6,672,324

817,851

2,343,823

5,261,924

-

8,423,598

Financial assets available for sale

-      

-      

-      

15,363,051

15,363,051

Investment properties

-      

-      

-      

62,188,407

62,188,407

Investment in associates

-      

-      

-      

6,357,466

6,357,466

Property and equipment

-      

-      

-      

119,578

119,578

7,490,175

2,343,823

5,261,924

84,028,502

99,124,424

2,071,633

372,335

2,419,855

-   

4,863,823

-      

-      

-      

40,978,084

40,978,084

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Bank loans
Net liquidity gap

2,071,633

372,335

2,419,855

40,978,084

45,841,907

5,418,542

1,971,488

2,842,069

43,050,418

53,282,517

23.3 Market risks
Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables such as interest rates,
foreign exchange rates, and equity prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment
or its issuer or factors affecting all investments traded in the market.
Market risk is managed on the basis of pre-determined asset allocations across various asset categories, diversification of
assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration, a continuous appraisal of market conditions and
trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value.
23.3.1 Foreign currency risk
The Group mainly operates in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC), Europe and the United States of America (USA) and
as a result is exposed to changes in exchange rates of the US Dollar, Euro, UAE Dirhams and Qatari Riyals. The Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position can be significantly affected by the movement in these currencies. To mitigate
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored.
Foreign currency risk is managed on the basis of limits determined by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors and a
continuous assessment of the Groups’ open positions. The Group, where possible, matches currency exposures inherent in
certain assets with liabilities in the same currency or correlated currency.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
23.3 Market risks (continued)
23.3.1 Foreign currency risk (continued)
The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities at the
reporting date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follow:

US Dollar

2014

2013

KD

KD

369,858

192,732

79,189

2,071,429

3,695,858

3,843,803

-

3,418,768

Euro
UAE Dirham
Qatari Riyal

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies by 1% (2013: 1%), then this would have the following impact
on the result for the year. There is no impact on the Group’s other comprehensive income.

Effect on result

US Dollar
Euro
UAE Dirham
Qatari Riyal

2014

2013

KD

KD
3,698

1,927

791

20,714

36,958

38,438

-

34,187

41,447

95,266

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies by 1% (2013: 1%), then there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the result for the year.
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions. Nonetheless,
the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk.
23.3.2 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of
financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and bank balances, due to banks and bank loans,
which are primarily at floating interest rates.
Positions are monitored on a regular basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
23.3 Market risks (continued)
23.3.2 Interest rate risk (continued)
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the results for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest rates with
effect from the beginning of the year. Based on observation of current market conditions the Parent Company’s management
estimates that a reasonable possible change in the interest rates would be +75 and -25 (2013: +75 and -25) basis points for
LIBOR and +25 and -125 (2013: +25 and – 125) basis points for Kuwaiti Dinar and +25 and -200 (2013: +25 and -200) basis
points for UAE Dirhams interest rates for the year 2014. The calculation is based on the Group’s financial instruments held
at each reporting date. All other variables are held constant. There is no impact on Group’s other comprehensive income.

Increase in interest rates

Decrease in interest rates

2014

2013

2014

2013

KD

KD

KD

KD

Effect on result

(81,533)

(76,630)

(37,921)

35,575

23.3.3 Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities will fluctuate as a result of changes in the level of equity indices or
the value of individual share prices. Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of equity investments. The Group is
st
not exposed to equity price risk as the Group do not have quoted equity instruments as at 31 December 2014 (2013: KD nil)

24. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities.
The fair values of financial instruments, with the exception of certain financial assets available for sale carried at cost (Note
11) are not materially different from their carrying values.
Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments by valuation
technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities:
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either
directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: other techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data.
The fair value of financial assets available for sale, with exception for certain investments carried at cost less impairment, are
classified under level 3.
The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial assets and liabilities which
are recorded at fair value.
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24. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Impairment loss
st

At

1 January

recorded in the
consolidated

comprehensive

statement of

Net purchases,
transfer, sales and
settlements

income

income
KD

Gain
recorded in other

KD

KD

st

At

31 December

KD

KD

Financial assets available for sale
2014

9,621,520

(87,770)

148,266

(281,866)

9,400,150

2013

10,392,060

-

518,208

(1,288,748)

9,621,520

During the year, there have been no transfers between the hierarchies.

25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximize shareholder value.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back treasury shares, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes
within net debt and loans, less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company.
2014

2013

KD

KD

Bank loans

45,043,085

Less: Cash and bank balances

(8,635,722)

(6,672,324)

Net debt

36,407,363

34,305,760

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company
Total capital

40,978,084

55,471,191

53,187,852

91,878,554

87,493,612

Consistent with others in the industry the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The Group’s policy is to
keep the gearing ratio within 60%.
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25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital as follows:
2014

2013

Net debt

36,407,363

34,305,760

Capital

91,878,554

87,493,612

40%

39%

Gearing ratio
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